IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 92-2476
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS
JUDI TH FRYE HOUSE,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas
CRH 91 123 01

March 25, 1993
Bef ore H G3 NBOTHAM SM TH, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
JERRY EE. SMTH, Circuit Judge:”’
| .
From 1988 to 1990, Judith House entered into a conpl ex set of
| oan transactions with seven commerci al banks in Texas, fromwhich
she borrowed a total of approximately $3.5 mllion. The schene

i nvol ved counterfeited stock certificates of w dely-held public

" Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have no
precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens
on the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that rule, the court has deternined
that this opinion should not be published.



conpani es, which House woul d pl edge as security for | oan proceeds
to be invested in various ventures, or use to pay her debts

Unsurprisingly, House ultimately defaulted on all of the | oans.
Al t hough she accounted to the governnent for approxinmately $2.5
mllion of the proceeds, she clains that nenory | oss prevents her
fromaccounting for the remaining $1 mllion.

House pl eaded guilty to two counts of bank fraud in violation
of 18 U.S. C. 8§ 1344(1), (2). The district court conputed her
of fense level as 23 with a crimnal history category of |, yielding
a sentenci ng range of 46-57 nonths. The court then departed upward
by five points under U S S.G § 5K2.0, citing, as factors, the
multiplicity of victinse and the seriousness of their |osses, as
wel | as the unusual sophistication of House's schene. The offense
| evel thus increased to 28, House's sentencing range becane 78-97
mont hs, and the court inposed a sentence at the high end of the
range. House was sentenced to serve two concurrent 97-nonth prison
ternms and two concurrent three-year terns of supervised rel ease and

to pay $3.6 million in restitution.

1.

House argues that the governnent breached the terns of her
pl ea agreenent by referring at sentencing to offenses other than
those for which she was sentenced, and by failing to recomend a
two- | evel downward departure for acceptance of responsibility under
US S G 8 3EL.1. In her plea agreenent, House stipul ated that,

shoul d she persist in her plea of guilty,



(1) The Governnent and | may reconmend any | awf ul
sentence to the Court at tinme of sentencing.

(2) The Governnent wll stipulate at sentencing to
my acceptance of responsibility as it relates to the
application of Sentencing Guidelines in ny case.

(3) The Governnent will nove to di smss Counts One,

Three, Four, Six and Seven of the Indictnent in this case
after sentencing.?

In Santobell o v. New York, 404 U. S. 257, 262 (1971), the Court

stated that "when a plea rests in any significant degree on a
prom se or agreenent of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to
be part of the inducenent or consideration, such prom se nust be
fulfilled.™ We apply an objective standard to determ ne whet her
the governnent's conduct is consistent with the defendant's
reasonabl e understanding of the terns of his plea agreenent.

United States v. Chagra, 957 F.2d 192, 194 (5th Cr. 1992). W

therefore look to the terns of House's plea agreenent to determ ne
whet her the governnent's conduct in this case accorded with House's

reasonabl e under standi ng of what she agreed to in her plea.

L1,

House first contends that the governnent breached the plea
agreenent by noving for an upward departure and, to that end,
pointing out to the court that she had avoided arrest and had
failed to cooperate in locating the remai nder of the noney. House

argues that she reasonably understood that the agreenent limted

1 The plea agreenent included a fourth stipulation to the effect that

House woul d pay any remaining restitution to the seven financial institutions
she had defrauded.
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the governnment's right of allocution to facts relevant to the
charged of fenses and that the governnent was bound not to recomrend
a sentence unless it involved a downward departure.

We find ourselves at aloss as to howthe terns of the instant
pl ea agreenent may be deened anbiguous as to the nmatters House
contests. Al though the governnment did stipulate to recommendi ng a

downwar d adj ust ment for House's acceptance of responsibility, both

parties expressly reserved the right to "recommend any | awf ul
sentence to the Court at the time of sentencing.” (Enmphasi s
added.)

Moreover, in the recital of facts preceding the plea, House
stated under oath that "I further understand that regardl ess of the
specific terns and conditions of this plea agreenent the Governnent
may provide all relevant sentencing information to the Court,
either directly or through the presentence i nvestigati on. Relevant

sentencing i nformation i ncludes all the facts and circunstances of

ny case and information concerning ny background." (Enmphasi s

added.) G ven the absence of any prom se or understanding to the
contrary, it thus was not reasonable for House to believe that the
governnent had limted either its right of allocution or its
ability to recommend any sentence, so long as it stood by its
stipulation to recormmend a two-|evel reduction for acceptance of
responsibility. Because the governnment did so here, it did not

breach the terns of the plea agreenent.?

2 House's objections to the plea agreenent under U S.S.G § 6Bl.4(a) &

(b) are inapposite, inasmuch as the plea agreenent contains no witten
(continued...)



| V.

Next, House disputes the district court's decision to depart
upward from her recomrended gui deli nes sentence on the ground that
the factors cited by the court as warranting departure were
i nval i d. Because House did not object to the departure in the

district court, our reviewis for plain error only. United States

v. Pigno, 922 F.2d 1162, 1167 (5th G r. 1991).

A sentencing court has the power, under 18 U S.C. 8§ 3553(b),
to inpose a sentence outside the range established by a proper
application of the guidelines, providedit finds "that there exists
an aggravating or mtigating circunstance of a kind, or to a
degree, not adequately taken into consideration by the Sentencing
Commi ssion in fornulating the guidelines that should result in a
sentence different fromthat described.”" U S S. G 8 5K2.0 (citing
18 U . S.C. 8§ 3553(b) (Supp. 1992)). Qur determ nation on appea
follows a two-pronged i nquiry:

First, was the sentence inposed either in violation of

law or as a result of an incorrect application of the

Cui del i nes? If so, a remand is required under

8§ 3742(f)(1). If the court concludes that the departure

is not the result of an error in interpreting the

Guidelines, it should proceed to the second step: is the

resul ti ng sentence an unreasonably high or | ow departure

fromthe relevant guideline range? |If so, a remand is
requi red under 8 3742(f)(2).

Wllians v. United States, 112 S. C. 1112, 1120 (1992). W review

findings of fact that underlie the court's sentence under a clearly

(...continued)

stipulation of facts. Were such is the case, the requirements for witten
stipulations contained in the guidelines section do not apply. See US. S.G 8§
6Bl. 4 commentary.
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erroneous standard. 18 U. S.C. 8§ 3742(e) (Supp. 1992).

House urges that the district court incorrectly assessed a
five-level upward departure under U S.S.G 8§ 5K2.0 based upon
factors al ready adequately consi dered by t he guidelines, nanely the
unusual sophistication of her schene, the existence of nultiple
victins, and the | arge anount of noney involved. House correctly
notes that the applicable guidelines provision, section 2F1.1,
accounts under its specific offense characteristics for the anount
of noney involved (up to and exceeding $80 mllion), nore than
m ni mal pl anni ng, and nultiple wvictins. See U S S G
8§ 2F1.1(b)(1), (2). At first glance, it appears House is correct
in claimng that the district court departed on the basis of
factors already addressed by the guidelines.

A deeper understanding of the guidelines, however, reveals
that the district court commtted no error. Application note 9 to
section 2F1.1 states that "[d]ollar loss often does not fully
capture the harnful ness and seriousness of the conduct. |In such
i nstances, an upward departure may be warranted."” It thus was not
plain error for the court to depart on the basis of the anmount of
nmoney invol ved, even though the applicable guideline already had
accounted for that factor.

The district court al so concl uded that House's schene i nvol ved
both nore than m ni mal pl anning and an attenpt to defraud nore than
one victim and it departed upward in part on that basis. Under
section 2F1.1(b)(2), a two-level upward adjustnent may be inposed

if either one of these offense characteristics is present.




Fol | ow ng the recommendati on of the probation officer contained in
the presentence investigation report ("PSI"), the district court
reasoned that when both are present, an upward departure may be
warranted. Such a departure is permtted under section 2F1.1(b)(3)
because its adjustnents, |ike section 2F1.1(b)(2)'s, are alterna-
tive rather than cunulative. See U.S.S.G § 2F1.1 application note
1. We conclude that it was not plain error for the court to
anal ogi ze to section 2F1. 1(b)(3) and depart upward. Nor can we say
that the extent of the departure, less than double the origina
gui del i nes range (from46-57 nonths to 78-97 nont hs), was unreason-

abl e. G. United States v. Roberson, 872 F.2d 597 (5th Gr.),

cert. denied, 493 U S. 861 (1989) (upholding sentence nore than

three tines guidelines-recomended nmaxi nmun.

V.

Lastly, we address House's contention that the district court
erroneously failed to conduct a hearing to resol ve di sputed factual
i ssues, nanely whet her House avoi ded arrest and whet her she failed
to cooperate in locating the remaining $1 mllion of m ssing funds.
Wil e House correctly cites U S . S.G 8 6Al.3 as authority for her
right to a resolution of disputed sentencing factors, that section
does not entitle her to all she clains. Specifically, it does not
necessarily entitle her to a hearing on all factors in dispute.
The | anguage of the commentary nakes this evident:

When a reasonable dispute exists about any factor

i nportant to the sentenci ng determ nation, the court nust

ensure that the parties have an adequate opportunity to

present relevant information. Witten statenents of
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counsel or affidavits of wi tnesses may be adequat e under
many ci rcunstances. An evidentiary hearing nay soneti nes
be the only reliable way to resolve disputed issues.

US S G 8 6AL.3 coomentary (enphasis added).

Here, House had and took anple opportunity to object to the
sentencing factors she disputed. House objected to the PSI's
conclusions, both by witten objections filed prior to the
sentencing hearing and orally at the hearing. W are satisfied
t hat, under the circunstances, these procedures provi ded House with
"an adequat e opportunity to present rel evant i nformati on" di sputing
the findings contained in the PSI. Mbreover, House's continuing
obj ecti ons are not grounded so nuch upon di sputed i ssues of fact as
upon the interpretation of agreed facts. The district court did
not err in resolving those questions of fact against her.

We therefore AFFIRM the sentence of the district court.



